2006

GLFP v. CL Management, Clark Leaming Properties, Howard S. Clark, and H. Scott Clark: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) and the Supreme Court's transfer order of May 15, 2006.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a case arising from an intra-family dispute involving closely-held limited partnerships, was it erroneous to grant summary judgment when:
 - a) the district court based its conclusion on a finding that all the claims asserted were derivative (i) despite evidence that Plaintiff was uniquely harmed; and (ii) despite the judicial dissolution/accounting requests made by Plaintiff; and
 - b) the court refused to invoke an exception allowing limited partners to pursue derivative claims in closely-held partnerships.
2. Did the district court err in refusing to reconsider its summary judgment decision to allow Plaintiff's judicial dissolution claim to go forward when such a claim is, by definition, not derivative?
3. Did the district court err in declaring Plaintiff's motion to amend "moot" when Plaintiff sought to allege futility of demand so it could proceed with its claims derivatively?

Standard of Review

Because all these matters were decided in the context of summary judgment, review is *de novo*, with no deference given to the district court's legal interpretation. *See, e.g., State v. Straight*, 2004 UT 88, ¶ 5, 108 P.3d 690 (Utah 2004). All of the foregoing issues were addressed by the district court's summary judgment orders, R. at 432-38; 578-80, and thus are preserved for review.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

1. Utah Code Ann. § 48-2a-1003:

In a derivative action, the complaint shall set forth with particularity the effort of the plaintiff to secure initiation of the action by a general partner or the reasons for not making the effort.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below.

This case arises from an intra-family dispute involving closely-held limited partnerships. Merline Leaming is the majority owner of Plaintiff GLFP¹, which is an equal owner (along with an entity controlled by Ms. Leaming's brother, Defendant Howard Clark) of Defendant Clark Leaming Properties. R. at 265.

¹ GLFP was established initially as a limited partnership, and was so classified in the Complaint. However, it was converted to a limited liability company on July 28, 2004. This conversion did not alter Merline Leaming's status as the primary owner. The Court granted summary judgment before Plaintiff could correct the case caption to reflect that GLFP had been converted to a limited liability company. *See* R. at 253, 265.

Howard Clark is the managing partner of Defendant CL Management, Ltd. which in turn is the managing partner of Clark Leaming Properties, Ltd. *Id.* The remaining defendant below, H. Scott Clark, is the son of Howard Clark.

GLFP filed suit against Clark Leaming Properties, CL Management and the Clarks, as individuals, in the Third Judicial District Court on February 8, 2005. R. 1. GLFP asserted claims for (a) damages for breach of fiduciary duty against the Clarks and CL Management, (b) dissolution of both CL Management and Clark Leaming Properties, and (c) an accounting in conjunction with dissolution. R. at 5-6.

After limited discovery, Defendants moved for summary judgment on July 20, 2005, arguing that all of GLFP's claims were derivative, and that GLFP had not complied with Utah Code Annotated §§ 48-2a-1001 to 1006, which govern derivative actions. R. at 192. On August 15, 2005, Defendants filed a separate motion for summary judgment asserting that GLFP lacked standing or capacity to bring its claims because it purportedly had assigned its interests in Clark Leaming Properties and CL Management to two different entities. R. at 279-80.

On November 7, 2005, Judge Iwasaki issued his summary judgment decision, finding a question of fact concerning the assignment issue, R. at 434,² but holding in Defendants' favor with respect to the derivative nature of Plaintiff's

² Given the district court's finding, the assignment question is not an issue in this appeal.

claims, *id.* at 436. However, Judge Iwasaki did not enter judgment in favor of Defendants at that time. On November 14, GLFP promptly moved for reconsideration of the summary judgment decision with respect to its judicial dissolution claim, R. at 467, and also sought leave to amend its Complaint to assert its other claims on a derivative basis, R. at 439-41. On April 5, 2006, Judge Iwasaki denied the motion to reconsider, declared the motion to amend “moot,” and entered final judgment in favor of Defendants. R. at 575-76; 581-82. GLFP timely filed a Notice of Appeal on May 5, 2006. R. at 590-91.

B. Statement of Facts.

The issues in this case arise from the extended and often contentious business dealings between Ms. Leaming and her brother, Mr. Clark, and their respective families. The Leamings and Clarks have been business partners in a variety of entities for many years.

Defendant CL Management, Ltd. (“CL Mgmt”) is a Utah limited partnership established in 1983, with Mr. Clark as the managing general partner, R. at 265 although plaintiff alleged that Mr. Clark assigned or delegated most of his responsibilities and duties to his son, H. Scott Clark. R. at 2. Defendant Clark Leaming Properties, Ltd. (“CLP”) is a Utah limited partnership established in 1988. Its primary business is ownership of various real estate interests. R. at 265. CL Mgmt is the managing general partner of CLP. As a result, the Clarks

effectively function as general partners of CLP, as well. *Id.* CL Mgmt owns 10% of CLP. *Id.* The remaining 90% is owned equally by the Leaming family through Plaintiff GLFP (short for “George Leaming Family Partnership”) and the Clarks, through an entity called HCFP (the “Howard Clark Family Partnership”). R. at 264-65.

CL Mgmt’s primary business is to manage and operate various real estate holdings, including those of CLP. R. at 265. In addition to CLP, CL Mgmt is the managing general partner of at least two other Clark/Leaming entities – CL Investment Company and Modulus Investment Company. *Id.* The Clarks also have other properties and businesses for their sole benefit, which are also managed by CL Mgmt. R. at 265-66. Although members of the Leaming family have ownership interests in CL Investment and Modulus, GLFP is not an owner of CL Investment, Modulus, or any of the other entities operated by the Clarks for their sole benefit.

For all essential purposes, CL Mgmt is owned equally by the Clark and Leaming families, who fund CL Mgmt primarily via various fees charged by the Clarks for the management of the families’ holdings, including: (a) property management fees; (b) asset management fees; and (c) leasing fees. R. at 265. CL Mgmt’s overhead and expenses, in theory, should be shared equally by the Leaming and Clark families. *Id.* Accordingly, each family has traditionally paid

equal amounts (*e.g.*, via CLP) for the administration and overhead of CL Mgmt and should receive equal distributions (*e.g.*, to GLFP and HCFP). (*See* Exhibit 1 of the addendum which is a chart based on the foregoing facts and is helpful in defining the various companies and ownership interests.)

In its Complaint, GLFP alleged that many of the fees assessed by CL Mgmt were excessive. R. at 4. In response to inquiries by the Leamings, the Clarks had stated that the fees charged were not excessive, but in any event, equally benefited the Clarks and Leamings because of their joint ownership status in CL Mgmt. *Id.* However, since the Clarks commingled the activities of numerous properties and interests – in which the Leamings have no ownership, but the Clarks do – within the business of CL Mgmt, the Clarks used the improper fees to help fund their own interests, to the detriment of GLFP specifically, and thereby the Leamings generally. *Id.* In other words, because of CL Mgmt’s involvement with entities that benefit the Clarks alone, and not the Leamings, the Leamings have been paying for a disproportionate share of expenses, and more importantly, receiving less in distributions to GLFP, thereby effectively subsidizing the management of properties and businesses from which they derive no benefit. This fact was the genesis of the lawsuit, and a key aspect of Plaintiff’s Complaint. R. at 4-5. This fact also was fundamentally misunderstood by the district court.

In their summary judgment pleadings, Defendants argued that GLFP was not charged any of the excessive fees by CL Management, which instead were directly charged to CLP. R. at 209. Thus, Defendants argued that GLFP's alleged claims were derivative (*i.e.*, belonged to CLP) in that only CLP was directly harmed by the fees. R. at 194-95. In opposition, GLFP asserted that the Clarks had commingled the activities of numerous properties and interests and, in doing so, had used the improper fees to help fund their own interests, to the direct detriment of GLFP by way of reduced distributions. R. at 255-56, 265-66. Thus, the direct harm to GLFP was that, contrary to the Clarks' representations, the excessive fees did not equally benefit the Clarks and GLFP via distributions from CL Mgmt; adequate distributions did not take place because of the commingling and use of the fees to benefit the Clarks' separate business entities. R. at 256, 258.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court wrongly classified all of plaintiff's claims as derivative, ignoring both the unique harm suffered by GLFP and the non-derivative nature of claims for judicial dissolution. Alternatively, the district court ignored Supreme Court case law recognizing an exception to derivative-claim requirements when a limited partner challenges the actions of a general partner in a closely-held partnership.

The district court also erred in refusing to reconsider its decision to allow plaintiff to proceed on its dissolution claim, which was not based solely on excessive fees. Further, refusal to reconsider did not render plaintiff's motion to amend moot. Plaintiff should have been allowed to assert futility of demand, and pursue those claims classified by the district court as derivative.

ARGUMENT

I. GLFP ASSERTED DIRECT, NON-DERIVATIVE CLAIMS AGAINST DEFENDANTS.

The district court's initial summary judgment order largely consists of a synopsis of the parties' respective positions. R. at 434-36. No case law is cited.

The court's reasoning is set forth in two sentences:

[A]lthough GLFP may ultimately experience the indirect effect of the alleged wrongdoing, the undisputed evidence indicates that the only direct claims are held by the Partnership. Moreover, since this action has not been brought as a derivative one, Plaintiff's claim for an accounting and for dissolution lack any basis.

R. at 436.

A. GLFP's Damage Claim Was Direct, Not Derivative.

Contrary to the district court's decision, GLFP's damage claims against CL Mgmt and the Clarks (based on breach of fiduciary duty) were for injuries uniquely suffered by it, and not by CLP. By definition, such claims are not derivative.

In shareholder litigation, which is directly analogous to actions by limited partners, Utah defines derivative claims as follows:

A derivative action must necessarily be based on a claim for relief which is owned by the stockholder's corporation The stockholder, as a nominal party, has no right, title or interest whatsoever in the claim itself – whether the action is brought by the corporation or by the stockholder on behalf of the corporation.

Richardson v. Arizona Fuels Corp., 614 P.2d 636, 638 (Utah 1980). In contrast to derivative claims, to maintain a direct action a shareholder “need show only an injury to him or herself that is distinct from that suffered by the corporation.”

Aurora Credit Services, Inc. v. Liberty West Development, Inc., 970 P.2d 1273, 1280 (Utah 1999) (citing PRINCIPLES OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS, § 7.01, cmt. C) (hereafter, “PRINCIPLES”)).

If GLFP's claim was only that CL Mgmt had charged CLP excessive fees, to the equal detriment of the Clarks/HCFP and Leamings/GLFP as owners of CLP, the resulting legal claims could be classified as derivative and belonging to CLP. But the excessive fees were merely a starting point, and not the lynchpin, of the Complaint. As noted, the wrongful conduct at issue was the commingling and misdirection of the excessive fees by CL Mgmt for the benefit of other Clark entities and properties, with the result that GLFP received less distributions than would otherwise have been true, and the Clarks received a benefit that GLFP did not. (*See* addendum, Exhibit 2, for a chart depicting these facts.) The district court's summary judgment order did nothing to analyze this issue, but merely held in a conclusory fashion that the claims were derivative. R. at 436. Indeed, the

district court does nothing to explain why commingling and misdirection of assets by a general partner is not direct harm to a limited partner.

GLFP did not merely rely on the allegations in its Complaint on this issue. Despite having had only limited discovery, GLFP retained an expert to analyze Defendants' documents and records. His initial report revealed that the excessive fees disproportionately benefited the Clarks and their businesses to the detriment of GLFP. R. at 272-73. The district court's decision makes no mention of this report.

Defendants did not cite a single case holding that commingling and misdirection of assets by a general partner is not directly harmful to the limited partner that is denied the benefit of those assets. Defendants' focus was on where the funds originated – *i.e.*, from CLP's payment of excessive fees – and not on where the fees went once received by CL Mgmt. The injury was unique to GLFP because the other primary owners of CL Mgmt were either a Clark entity (HCFP) or Howard Clark himself, who were receiving the benefits of the commingling and misdirection of assets.

B. GLFP's Requests for Dissolution and An Accounting Were Not Derivative Claims.

Just as importantly, the district court failed to analyze GLFP's requests for an accounting and judicial dissolution. Defendants failed to cite any law holding that actions for an accounting and dissolution are derivative; indeed, such actions are classically brought directly by a minority owner. *See, e.g., Stewart v. K&S*

Co., 591 P.2d 433 (Utah 1979) (individual shareholder brought direct action for accounting); *Crowther v. Carter*, 767 P.2d 129 (Utah App. 1989) (a limited partner brought direct action for dissolution of a limited partnership). Again, the district court's holding began and ended with the issue of excessive fees, and failed to distinguish these claims by GLFP from its request for damages. In the district court's view (implicit, but not directly stated), a limited partner may not seek dissolution based on a harm suffered by the partnership at the hands of the general partner. No case law was cited for this proposition.

GLFP moved for partial reconsideration of the initial summary judgment decision, arguing both that a claim for dissolution is not derivative, and that this claim was not based solely on the excessive fees charged to CLP. *See, e.g.*, UTAH CODE ANN. 48-2a-802; *Kalabogias v. Georgou*, 627 NE 2d 51, 57 (Ill. App. 1993); 12B FLETCHER CYCLOPEDIA CORPORATIONS § 5915.20 at 478-79 (2000) ("An action which has for its purpose compelling the directors to dissolve a corporation is representative in character, since the right to determine whether a corporation shall be dissolved resides in the majority of the shareholders and not in the corporation itself."). In contrast, by their nature derivative actions are brought to maintain the continued and profitable existence of a partnership.

Minority shareholders may sue a company directly for its dissolution when they can establish that those in control have acted in a manner that is oppressive,

illegal, or fraudulent. *Kalabogias*, 627 NE.2d at 53. A limited partner has the right to seek dissolution upon a showing of oppressive conduct which has the effect of excluding that partner from taking part in the affairs of the partnership. *See, e.g., Compton v. Paul K. Harding Realty Co.*, 285 NE 2d 574, 581 (Ill. 1972) (holding that there was ample evidence showing a record of arbitrary, overbearing, and heavy-handed conduct to justify finding of oppression and thereby supporting dissolution); *White v. Perkins*, 189 SE 2d 315, 318-19 (Va. 1972) (finding oppressive conduct where the majority shareholder/officer had excluded other shareholders from participating in the affairs of the company and had used the company for his own benefit).

GLFP's Complaint alleged that Defendants had failed to hold timely, regular, and proper partnership meetings and failed to provide adequate financial and business documents. R. at 3-4. In fact, the Leamings often had to request partnership meetings in order to obtain financial and business information. *Id.* Despite these requests, meetings were held so sporadically and access to financial information had been so limited that GLFP was unable to track revenues and expenses to compare with the fees and distributions. *Id.* Likewise, the Complaint alleged that no partnership meeting of CLP had been held since September 15, 2004 (nearly 6 months at the time the complaint was filed) and at the time of that September meeting, financial records were not up-to-date and agenda items were

ignored or glossed over. *Id.* GLFP further alleged that minutes of meetings, when and if distributed, did not accurately reflect what had occurred. *Id.* In essence, GLFP and the Leamings had been excluded not only from participating in CLP and CL Mgmt, but from being able to effectively monitor and evaluate the activities of these businesses.

In the briefing on its motion to reconsider, GLFP submitted an affidavit from Merline Leaming indicating that the problems alleged in GLFP's initial Complaint had not been resolved. R. at 562-63. Ms. Leaming had not been notified of a CLP partnership meeting in 2005 and had not received minutes of any such meeting. R. at 563. Further, GLFP had not received any distributions from CL Mgmt or CLP since April 2005, despite a large accumulation of cash. *Id.* Under Utah's Revised Limited Partnership Act, § 48-2a-802, judicial dissolution is allowed when a partnership is not reasonably able to carry on business in conformity with the partnership agreement or there is a failure to comply with the requirements of §§ 48-2a-101 *et seq.* GLFP's initial claim for dissolution specifically cited the failure of both CL Mgmt and CLP to comply with requirements of the Limited Partnership Act, particularly § 48-2a-305 (inspection of records – right to information), § 48-2a-503 (sharing of profits and losses), and § 48-2a-504 (sharing of distributions). R. at 3-4.

Having a second opportunity to address the issue, the district court again ignored these allegations and again focused on the allegation that excess fees were charged by CL Mgmt to CLP; as such, any claim based on the fees was derivative, according to the district court, and therefore all of Plaintiff's claims were derivative since they were all based on the same disputed conduct. R. at 575. This combination fact finding/legal conclusion was contrary to the record, and contrary to basic summary judgment standards. The district court thus erred, in the alternative, regarding GLFP's request for judicial dissolution and an accounting (the latter was requested as part of dissolution). Even if GLFP's damage claim was derivative, dismissal of the entire case was unwarranted.

II. TO THE EXTENT GLFP'S CLAIMS ARE DEEMED DERIVATIVE, UTAH LAW PERMITS SUCH CLAIMS TO BE BROUGHT BY GLFP RATHER THAN VIA CLP.

To the extent any of GLFP's claims could be considered to be derivative, Defendants were not entitled to summary judgment based on that finding alone. Instead, the district court should have addressed whether GLFP nonetheless should have been allowed to assert these claims. In fact, the cases Defendants cited to the district court were to this effect. In particular, Defendants relied upon *Aurora Credit* and *Arndt v. First Interstate Bank of Utah*, 991 P.2d 584 (Utah 1999). Both of these cases recognize that, under some circumstances, shareholders in a closely-held corporation (or limited partners in a closely-held limited partnership) may

bring claims directly which are by their nature derivative. *Aurora*, 970 P.2d at 1280-81; *Arndt*, 991 P.2d 588-89. These two decisions essentially adopted the following recommendation of the American Law Institute:

In the case of a closely-held corporation . . . , the court in its discretion may treat an action raising derivative claims as a direct action, exempt it from those restrictions and defenses applicable only to derivative actions, and order an individual recovery, if it finds that to do so will not (i) unfairly expose a corporation or defendants to a multiplicity of actions, (ii) materially prejudice the interest of creditors of the corporation, or (iii) interfere with the fair distribution of the recovery among all interested persons.

PRINCIPLES § 7.01(d).³ The PRINCIPLES thus recognize that, with limited exceptions, closely-held business entities should be treated differently with respect to derivative-claim requirements. Here, there was no showing by Defendants that any of the three exceptions applied; therefore, GLFP should have been allowed to pursue the asserted claims.

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