2006

GLFP, LTD., a former Utah limited partnership v.
CL MANAGEMENT, LTD, a Utah limited
partnership; CLARK LEAMING PROPERTIES,
LTD, a Utah limited partnership; HOWARD S.
CLARK and H. SCOTT CLARK, individuals, :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

owned exclusively by Clark Leaming Properties, not GLFP. Id. GLFP never paid a single fee it claims was excessive, or misappropriated to support Clark-only businesses. Id. Based on these facts, the law is unequivocal: GLFP lacks standing to sue directly for the purported misappropriation of fees paid by Clark Leaming Properties to CL Management for its service as general partner, regardless of the alleged manner of misappropriation, be it commingling or some other form of waste:

[T]he initial injury for which the plaintiffs seek redress was to the Partnership. That is, plaintiffs complain that the Partnership received a lower amount of income because of the alleged misconduct. In other words, the defendants inflicted the alleged injury directly upon the Partnership. Therefore, defendants' misconduct damaged plaintiffs only to the extent of their proportionate interest in the Partnership. Clearly, this was not a direct injury to the limited partners or one that existed independently of the Partnership.

Litman v. Prudential-Bache Properties, Inc., 661 A.2d 12, 16 (Del. Ch. 1992); see also (“Golden Tee, Inc. v. Venture Golf Schools, Inc., 969 S.W.2d 625, 629 (Ark. 1998) (“Looking to the federal court for guidance, when the individual limited partner alleges wrong to the . . . Partnership that indirectly damage him by ‘rendering his contribution or interest in the limited partnership valueless, the limited partner is required to bring his claim derivatively on behalf of the partnership.’”) (Citation omitted).

GLFP cannot separate the property mismanagement and fee misappropriation claims from Clark Leaming Properties. These factual theories are necessarily derivative because GLFP has not suffered, according to its own allegations and the undisputed facts, any harm distinct and independent of the partnership entity itself.⁴ Under such circumstances, the law of Utah and elsewhere is clear - - these claims are derivative, and to find otherwise will directly contradict the Utah Supreme Court's recent decision in Dansie v. City of Herriman, 134 P.2d 1139, 1144 (Utah 2006) ("A shareholder does not sustain an individual injury because a corporate act results in disparate treatment among shareholders. Rather, the shareholder must examine his injury in relation to the

⁴ All of the evidence before the trial court supported its summary judgment holding. The affidavit by Ms. Merline Leaming confirms that: "CL Mgmt manages the real estate holdings of CLP. CL Mgmt is funded by various fees charged by CL Mgmt, . . ." R. at 265. The draft expert report submitted by GLFP, to extent it should be considered at all, states: "94% of the income in 2003 was contributed exclusively by the various Clark Leaming Properties." R. at 272; see also R. at 211-15, 225-25. Finally, Exhibit 2 to GLFP's appeal brief confirms the derivative origin of its complaint. GLFP, in that Exhibit, admits that the harm allegedly suffered by GLFP was in the form of "reduced or non-existent distributions." Appellant Br. Ex. 2. A reduction in distributions to a limited partner, based on an alleged harm suffered by the partnership, is the very definition of a derivative claim. New York Life Insurance Company v. Ramco Holding Corporation, 938 F. Supp. 754, 756 (N.D. Okla. 1996) ("Thus, when a limited partner alleges wrongs to the limited partnership that indirectly damaged a limited partner by rendering his or her interest in the partnership of lesser value, the partner is required to bring the claim derivatively.") (quoting Mallia v. PaineWebber, Inc., 889 F. Supp. 277, 282 (S.D. Tex. 1995)). The property mismanagement and fee misappropriation claims are derivative, and no fact to the contrary exists in the record.

corporation and demonstrate that the injury was visited upon him and not the corporation.”); see also See Energy Investors Fund, L.P. v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 525 S.E.2d 441, 444 (N.C. 2000) (An injury ““is peculiar or personal to the . . . [limited partner] if “a legal basis exists to support plaintiffs’ allegations of an individual loss, separate and distinct from the damage suffered by the . . . [limited partnership].””).

GLFP failed to comply with the laws and procedures applicable to the proper filing of derivative claims. No allegations are included in GLFP’s complaint that satisfy the mandatory requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 48-2a-1003 (“In a derivative action, the complaint shall set forth with particularity the effort of the plaintiff to secure initiation of the action by a general partner or the reasons for not making the effort.”); Seaford Funding Limited Partnership v. M & M Associates II, L.P., 672 A.2d 66, 69 (Del. Ch. 1995) (“[L]imited partners in a derivative complaint must allege with particularity the effort, if any, made to secure the action desired from the general partner and the reasons the effort failed or why they chose not to make the effort.”); see R. at 1-6. Moreover, GLFP’s complaint is not verified, and does not set forth the information mandated by Rule 23.1 of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Utah R. Civ. P. 23.1 (“In a derivative action . . . the complaint shall be verified and shall allege . . . with particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires . . . and the

reasons for his failure to obtain that action or for not making the effort.”); see R. at 1-6.⁵

The trial court correctly granted summary judgment. GLFP’s property mismanagement and fee misappropriation claims are derivative as a matter of law. These derivative theories represent the core of GLFP’s complaint, and every claim in the complaint rests in material part on these derivative claims. GLFP failed to comply with the statutory law and procedure applicable to the proper assertion of derivative claims. As such, GLFP’s complaint was correctly dismissed pursuant to summary judgment by the trial court. CL Management respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court’s judgment consistent with the Utah Supreme Court’s decisions in Arndt v. First Interstate Bank of Utah, 991 P.2d 584 (Utah

⁵ Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 23.1, among other things, requires the plaintiff in a derivative action to set forth in a verified complaint that the plaintiff was a limited partner “at the time of the transaction of which he complains” It will be difficult, if not impossible, for GLFP to verify its standing to pursue the alleged derivative claims. Executed assignments exist in the record, whereby GLFP appears to have transferred its limited partnership interests in CL Management and Clark Leaming Properties to the separate entities of Ming, Ltd and Sumerlea, Ltd. R. at 302-5. GLFP, through certain members, disputes the validity of its own assignments. However, this is not true for all the members of GLFP. R. at 317-338. Apparently a dispute exists internally within GLFP as to the validity of the assignments. R. at 413-16. The assignments have been recognized and implemented by CL Management and Clark Leaming Properties. R. at 367-68, 371-72. GLFP’s complaint makes no mention of the assignments, and Ming, Ltd and Sumerlea, Ltd are not party to the litigation. R. at 1-6. The validity and enforceability of the assignments must therefore first be resolved internally within GLFP prior to the institution of any litigation, direct or otherwise, through GLFP.

1999) and Dansie v. City of Herriman, 134 P.3d 1139 (Utah 2006), and in accordance with Utah Code Ann. §§ 48-2a-1001 through 1006 and Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 23.1.

2. GLFP CANNOT JUSTIFY ITS FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE LAW AND PROCEDURE, AND THE ENTIRE COMPLAINT WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED BECAUSE IT IS INEXTRICABLY FOUNDED ON DERIVATIVE THEORIES OF RECOVERY.

GLFP argues that its failure to comply with applicable law and procedure should be excused. GLFP contends that Clark Leaming Properties is closely held, and therefore the trial court should have permitted GLFP to directly assert the derivative claims set forth in the complaint. Appellant Br. at 14-17. GLFP further argues that the dissolution and accounting claims are not derivative, and the trial court thus erred in dismissing the entire complaint. Appellant Br. at 10-14. GLFP's arguments are unavailing, and contrary to established Utah law.

The "closely held" exception does not apply as a matter of law, and GLFP failed to present evidence in support of this argument. The closely held exception only applies if it is established that the direct assertion of derivative claims will not: "(i) unfairly expose the corporation or defendants to a multiplicity of actions, (ii) materially prejudice the interests of creditors of the corporation, or (iii) interfere with a fair distribution of the recovery among all interested persons."

Aurora Credit Services, Inc. v. Liberty West Dev., Inc., 970 P.2d 1273, 1280 (Utah

1998). GLFP, however, failed to present evidence in support of the closely held exception, and the undisputed evidence proves the contrary, that being prejudice will indeed result if GLFP is permitted to directly pursue the derivative theories of recovery set forth in its complaint.

GLFP concedes that insufficient evidence exists to substantiate the application of the closely held exception, but argues that it was CL Management's responsibility to prove that the exception does not apply. GLFP contends that CL Management, as general partner: "should be required to demonstrate that an exception – *e.g.*, prejudice to creditors – requires the claim to be pursued derivatively, rather than directly." Appellant Br. at 16. This argument is contrary to Utah law and procedure, and the Utah Supreme Court has already held that it was GLFP's burden to establish the application of the closely held exception, which GLFP failed to do.

Under Utah Code Ann. § 48-2a-1003 and Rule 23.1 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, GLFP, not CL Management, was required to plead "with particularity" in a verified complaint "the reasons" for its direct assertion of derivative claims possessed by Clark Leaming Properties. Moreover, pursuant to the Utah Supreme Court's Aurora decision, GLFP alone was obligated to submit evidence in support of the closely held exception. See Aurora, 970 P.2d at 1281

("[A] minority . . . shareholder may proceed directly for corporate wrongdoing if the shareholder can show that one of the exceptions applies.").

If GLFP's argument were accepted, the law regarding derivative actions would be turned upside down. No authority exists to support the idea that GLFP can directly sue for derivative claims in violation of Utah law and procedure unless CL Management proves that the closely held exception does not apply. The closely held exception is not presumed to apply. Rather, it was GLFP's obligation to substantiate with evidence that the closely held exception applied, and GLFP failed to do so. The trial court therefore correctly ruled: "[A]lthough Plaintiff argued it should be excepted from the derivative requirement, given the closely held nature of the corporation, the evidence in the record simply does not support such an exception and, further, no proper Rule 56(f) motion for continuance has been filed." R. at 436; see also Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e) ("When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the responses by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against a party failing to file such a response.").

The undisputed evidence, moreover, establishes that prejudice will result if GLFP is permitted to directly pursue the derivative claims set forth in its

complaint. GLFP claims that all of the “key parties” are before the court. But this is not true. MB Management, Inc., a general partner and owner of CL Management, is a separate corporate entity and it is not party to this litigation. See R. at 1, 207-9, 211-15, 265, 388; Appellant Br. Exs. 1-2. The GAL Marital Deduction Trust is a limited partner of CL Management, and it too is not before the court. Id. HCFP, Ltd, yet another separate limited partnership, is a 45% limited partner of Clark Leaming Properties, and it is noticeably absent from the litigation. Id. Moreover, GLFP fails to address the third party obligations Clark Leaming Properties has with respect to its real property investments in Phoenix, Sacramento, Santa Monica and Monterey. Id.

The closely held exception cannot apply as a matter of law. GLFP has failed to name all of the relevant parties, including one of the general partners of CL Management, that being MB Management, and a limited partner that owns 45% of Clark Leaming Properties, that being HCFP, Ltd. Kemp v. Murray, 680 P.2d 758, 761 (Utah 1984) (“Allowing plaintiff to go forward individually could subject defendants to multiple liability and could spawn multiple litigation among the partnership, the individual partners, and defendants. This would be unfair to absent partners, unfair to defendants, and contrary to judicial economy. That is undoubtedly why Rules 17(a) and 19(a) forbid such a result.”); see also Utah R. Civ. P. 23.1 (“The derivative action may not be maintained if it appears that the

plaintiff does not fairly and adequately represent the interests of the shareholders or members similarly situated in enforcing the right of the corporation or association.”).

The trial court properly dismissed GLFP’s dissolution and accounting claims as well. GLFP claims that it possesses standing to pursue the dissolution and accounting claims even if the property mismanagement and fee misappropriation claims are derivative.⁶ Appellant Br. at 10-14. The accounting claim is not a separate claim, but rather GLFP requested an accounting “as part of the dissolution” claim against CL Management and Clark Leaming Properties. R. at 6. However, GLFP does not dispute, and indeed must concede that its complaint is fundamentally based on the purported derivative theories of recoveries for property mismanagement and fee misappropriation. See R. at 1-6. The dissolution claim is a remedy requested in part based on the core derivative theories of recovery set forth in the complaint. Id.

The inclusion of a dissolution claim in the complaint does not excuse GLFP’s failure to comply with applicable law and procedure. GLFP cannot avoid

⁶ GLFP raised this argument in its motion for reconsideration. A motion for reconsideration is not authorized under Utah procedure. Gillett v. Price, 135 P.3d 861, 863 (Utah 2006) (“In fact, postjudgment motions to reconsider are not recognized anywhere in either the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure or the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.”). The trial court was forced to reject this argument twice. See R. at 436, 575.

the requirements of Utah law and procedure by simply including a claim for dissolution. The complaint, given its derivative foundation, was deficient and subject to dismissal at the outset because it was not verified, and GLFP failed to otherwise comply with the substantive and procedural requirements mandated by Utah law. See Richardson v. Arizona Fuels Corp., 614 P.2d 636, 640 (Utah 1980) (“The eleventh cause of action alleges the possibility of other conversions . . . and alleges that the defendants should be required to account . . . for all of the assets . . . and disgorge themselves of any assets so converted. This claim also clearly belongs to the corporation.”).

Finally, and most critical, GLFP cannot seek the dissolution of CL Management and Clark Leaming Properties because GLFP failed to name all of the required parties to such an action, including one of the general partners of CL Management, and a 45% owner of Clark Leaming Properties. See Kemp v. Murray, 680 P.2d 758 (Utah 1984); Terracor v. Utah Bd of State Lands & Forestry, 716 P.2d 796, 798 (Utah 1986) (“[T]his Court may address . . . [a standing] issue *sua sponte*.”); Seftel v. Capital City Bank, 767 P.2d 941, 944 (Utah App. 1991) (“We also note that a party may raise the issue of failure to join an indispensable party at any time in the proceedings, including for the first time on appeal.”). GLFP’s complaint is fatally defective on many grounds, and the trial court correctly dismissed it pursuant to established Utah law and procedure.

3. GLFP'S FUTILITY ARGUMENT BASED ON A CLAIMED CONFLICT OF INTEREST POSSESSED BY CL MANAGEMENT LACKS MERIT, AND WAS RENDERED MOOT BY THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT DECISION.

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